No. 456541

#### COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

## OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

TIMOTHY J. ROHN, Appellant

## APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

## OF PIERCE COUNTY

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 Attorney for Timothy J. Rohn PO Box 829 Graham, WA 509.939.3038

##

INTRODUCTION
I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS1
II. STATEMENT OF FACTS2
III. ARGUMENT
A. The Trial Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Rohn His
Constitutional Right To Represent Himself at Trial10
B. The Trial Court Erred When It Did Not Inquire
Whether Mr. Rohn's Relinquishment Of His Right
To An Affirmative Defense Was Knowing and
Intelligent15
IV. CONCLUSION

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# Washington Cases

<i>City of Bellevue v. Acrey</i> , 103 Wn.2d 203, 691 P.2d 957 (1984)12
<i>In re Hews</i> , 108 Wn.2d 579, 741 P.2d 983 (1987)18
<i>In re Personal Restraint of Fleming</i> , 142 Wn.2d 853, 16 P.3d 610 (2001)
<i>In re Personal Restraint of Rhome,</i> 172 Wn.2d 654, 260 P.3d 874 (2011)
<i>In re Rhome</i> , 172 Wn.2d 654, 260 P.3d 874 (2011)15
State v. Coley, 326 P.3d 702, 711 (2014)
State v. Coristine, 177 Wn.2d 370, 300 P.3d 400 (2013) 18
State v. Hahn, 106 Wn.2d 885, 726 P.2d 25 (1986) 12
State v. Jones, 99 Wn.2d 735, 746, 664 P.2d 1216 (1983) 18
State v. Klein, 156 Wn.2d 103, 124 P.3d 644 (2005) 16
State v. Kolocotronis, 73 Wn.2d 92, 436 P.2d 774 (1968)11
State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 229 P.3d 714 (2010) 11
State v. Reid, 144 Wn.2d 621, 30 P.3d 465 (2001) 16
State v. Rohrich, 149 Wn.2d 647, 71 P.3d 638 (2003) 11
<i>State v. Silva,</i> 107 Wn.App. 605, 27 P.3d 663 (2001)11
State v. Silva, 108 Wn.App. 536, 31 P.3d 729 (2001)
State v. Vermillion, 112 Wn.App. 844, 51 P.3d 188 (2002)14

## U.S. Supreme Court Cases

<i>Faretta v. California</i> , 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975)
<i>Foucha v. Louisiana,</i> 504 U.S. 71, 112 S.Ct. 1780, 118 L.Ed.2d 437 (1992)
<i>Godinez v. Moran,</i> 509 U.S. 389, 113 S.Ct. 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993)
Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938) 12
<i>Jones v. United States</i> , 463 U.S. 354, 103 S.Ct. 3043, 77 L.Ed.2d 94 (1983)
<i>McKaskle v. Wiggins</i> , 465 U.S. 168, 104 S.Ct. 944, 79 L.Ed.2d 1122 (1984)
Statutes
RCW 10.77.030(1)
RCW 9A.12.010
Rules
CrR 4.2(c)

## Constitutional Provisions

Wash.	Const.Article	1, §2	2	11	1
-------	---------------	-------	---	----	---

#### INTRODUCTION

This case exemplifies the essence of a Catch-22: the intersection between competence, insanity and a criminal defendant's constitutional right to broadly control his own defense. Mr. Rohn was acquitted in 2005 as not guilty by reason of insanity. He spent the next eight years in the criminal forensic unit at Western State Hospital. His petitions for conditional release were denied. In 2013, while still hospitalized, he was charged with several felonies. The doctors at WSH evaluated him and found him found competent to stand trial. Deemed competent, he moved to represent himself at trial. Despite an extended and cordial colloguy, his motion was denied because the court believed the choice neither knowing nor intelligent. Mr. Rohn verbally asserted a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity, which was never entered. On the eve of trial, the court never inquired into Mr. Rohn's forgoing of the affirmative defense, which also required a knowing and intelligent waiver. Mr. Rohn respectfully asks this Court to reverse his convictions and remand for a new trial.

#### I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

A. The trial court erred when it denied Mr. Rohn his constitutional right to represent himself.

 B. The trial court erred when it allowed Mr. Rohn to forgo an affirmative defense of not guilty by reason of insanity without first determining if it was an intelligent and voluntary decision.

#### ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Where a criminal defendant unequivocally states that he intends to proceed pro se, has been found competent by the trial court, and after an extended court colloquy is unwavering, is it error for the trial court to rule that although the defendant is competent to stand trial he may not represent himself because he is mentally ill, thus the decision to proceed pro se is not the product of a voluntary and intelligent choice?
- 2. Where a criminal defendant has been denied the right to represent himself at trial because he is mentally ill and incapable of exercising a voluntary and intelligent choice, is it error for the trial court to allow that defendant the option to forgo the affirmative defense of not guilty by reason of insanity, which requires a voluntary and intelligent decision?

#### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Timothy Rohn has a documented history of mental illness. He has been homeless much of his life and arrested between 15 and 20 times. (CP 32-48). In July 2005, he was arrested and convicted for two counts of assault in the third degree. (CP 226-227). He was sentenced to a standard range of three to eight months in jail. (CP 227). In October 2005, charged with second-degree arson, he was acquitted by reason of insanity. (CP 185). Although he petitioned several times for release to a less restrictive environment, he spent the next eight years at Western State Hospital (WSH) in the criminal forensic unit. (10/2/13 RP 7; 11/6/13 RP 13).

While at WSH, he made verbal threats, threw gallons of ice water into the nurses' station, spit at a staff member, slapped a peer, aggressively damaged hospital property and on October 14, 2012, reportedly hit a staff member with a sock weighted with several "D" size batteries. (CP 37). Between February 21, 2013 and May 17, 2013, he was placed in seclusion 8 times and additionally, placed in restraints twice. (CP 37).

On July 3, 2013, Mr. Rohn appeared at what was to be his arraignment on the charge of felony harassment for events that occurred July 1, 2013, at WSH. (7/3/13 RP CP 1-2). The trial court deferred the arraignment and instead, ordered a competency evaluation. (7/3/13 RP 5; CP 6-10). The court order did not include a sanity evaluation. (CP 9).

Mr. Rohn was unresponsive during the forensic evaluation. (CP 33). The report, filed with the court on July 19, 2013, was based on information and an interview compiled and dated May 31, 2013. (CP 34).

The report detailed numerous hospitalizations for mental health issues beginning in 1991. (CP 32-48). Mr. Rohn had a history of diagnosis with and treatment for Bipolar I disorder, as well as a secondary Axis I diagnosis of malingering and an Axis 2 diagnosis of personality disorder not otherwise specified. (CP 46-47). The evaluator concluded that Mr. Rohn possessed a factual and rational understanding of the charges and court proceedings he faced and likely had the capacity to assist in his own defense, but added a caveat:

"Given the current clinical and historical assessment, should Mr. Rohn's forensic status change, due to a history of aggressivity (sic), current NGRI status, the severe nature of the current charges, and a history of mood disorder with psychosis, Mr. Rohn did give indication of a current need for an evaluation by a DMHP for civil commitment under RCW 71.05." (CP 48).

The trial court entered an order of competency on August 15, 2013. (CP 53-54).

Two weeks later, at the next hearing, Mr. Rohn objected to a continuance of his trial date and informed the court he wished to continue pro se. (9/9/13 RP 6-7). Despite Mr. Rohn's assertion that he had familiarity with filing motions, and conducting his own legal research, Judge Chushcoff directed him to consult with counsel and submit a motion to be heard at a later date. (RP 7).

Judge Murphy heard Mr. Rohn's motion to proceed pro se on

September 23, 2013. (9/23/13 RP 3; CP 57). The court conducted an

extended colloquy, as follows:

The Defendant: I ask you literally to scrutinize my motion to proceed pro se. The Court: Why do you want to represent yourself? The Defendant: I feel my interest would be best served by defending myself your Honor. The reason for that is that I believe I have the most to gain by winning this case and would put the most time and effort into it. The Court: Have you ever studied law? The Defendant: No, your Honor, I have not. The Court: Have you represented yourself or any other defendant in any kind of a criminal action? The Defendant: Not a criminal action, no. The Court: You realize that you are charged with the crime of felony harassment? The Defendant: Yes. sir. The Court: What is the standard sentencing range on that? Mr. Lane [Prosecutor]: I think we determined at a minimum about four to 12 months n jail, depending on what the offender score calculation is. The Court: It is a Class C? Mr. Lane: That is correct. The Court: You understand that you are facing a standard sentence range of four to 12 months in jail, there is a maximum penalty of five years in prison and a \$10,000 fine if you are convicted of this charge. Do you understand that? The Defendant: Yes, your Honor. (9/23/13 RP 3-4).

After learning the State intended to file additional charges in the

matter, the following colloquy occurred:

The Court: You understand, Mr. Rohn, from what the Court has just been told your standard sentencing range could

increase significantly, you could be looking at standard sentencing ranges that are lengthy prison sentences, also the maximum penalty could be as much as – are we talking about Class A, Class B?

Mr. Lane: Class A.

The Court: Could be life in prison and a \$50,000 fine. Do you understand that?

The Defendant: Yes, sir.

The Court: You also understand if you represent yourself, you are on your own. The Court can't tell you how you should try your case or even advise you as to how to try the case.

The Defendant: Your Honor, I have a legal liaison. She was a legal secretary by profession. She acts as my....paralegal. She files all my motions for me. I understand I will be on my own.

The Court: This person cannot come to court and represent you, sit at counsel table with you. Do you understand that?

The Defendant: Yes, I understand that.

The Court: Are you familiar with the Rules of Evidence?

The Defendant: No, your Honor. I will be.

The Court: What is your educational background?

The Defendant: I believe I have a GED, your Honor.

The Court: You believe you have one?

The Defendant: Yes, sir.

The Court: Does that mean you do have one?

The Defendant: Yes, sir.

The Court: You understand the Rules of Evidence govern what evidence may or may not be introduced at trial. In representing yourself, you must abide by those rules. Do you understand that?

The Defendant: Yes, your Honor.

The Court: Are you familiar at all with the Rules of Criminal Procedure?

The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: You are?

The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: How are you familiar with them?

The Defendant: I have been to court a few times before for various charges.

- The Court: Do you understand that the rules of criminal procedure govern the way in which a criminal action is tried in court?
- The Defendant: Yes, your Honor.
- The Court: Do you understand that if you decide to take the witness stand, you must present your testimony by asking questions of yourself? You cannot just take the stand and tell your story?
- The Defendant: Yes.
- The Court: You must proceed question by question through your testimony. Do you understand that?
- The Defendant: Yes, sir.
- The Court: Have any threats or promises been made to get you to waive your right to counsel?
- The Defendant: No your Honor.
- The Court: Again, why is it that you want to represent yourself?
- The Defendant: I believe my interest would be best served by representing myself. I believe that I will have the motivation to put the time and effort and energy into it. I believe I am competent to do this. I have a paralegal and a legal secretary at my disposal, and my whole trial, everything I am bringing, is just a closing argument, your Honor. Just a closing argument.
- The Court: You are not going to call any witnesses or crossexamine any witnesses?
- The Defendant: I am just going to speak to the evidence that is presented, the closing argument, leave my case to the jury.
- The Court: Do what?
- The Defendant: Leave my case to the jury.
- The Court: You understand that closing argument is the time to summarize the evidence that has been presented. It is not a time to testify. You cannot get up there and tell your story in closing argument.
- The Defendant: Yes, I understand that. I am going to speak to the evidence as presented. Leave it up to the jury.
- The Court: I must advise you, in my opinion you would be far better off being represented by a trained lawyer than you can be representing yourself, even if you have a paralegal and a legal secretary that you think is at your disposal. I think it is unwise of you to try to represent

yourself. You are not familiar with the law. You are not familiar with court procedure. You may have been to court a few times. The trial is a whole different situation. You are not familiar with the Rules of Evidence. I would strongly urge you not to try to represent yourself. You went to Western State Hospital. There was recently an order of competency that was entered.

#### (9/23/13 RP 4-8).

The Court: Mr. Rohn, I think you are making a huge mistake by asking the Court to have you represent yourself. You have gone to Western State Hospital. You were at Western State Hospital on a not guilty by reason of insanity.....

> You didn't participate in the competency evaluation, it appears, by your own choice. What you have represented to me in court is your intention at trial is to not present any evidence or cross-examine or participate until closing argument, at which time you are going to speak to the evidence to the jury. A defendant does have a constitutional right to represent himself, if you choose to do so. The Court has to make a finding it is knowing and voluntary. I have some grave concerns about whether Mr. Rohn completely understands what it is he is doing at this point in time asking to represent himself. A decision on competency is a low threshold for that; understanding the nature of the charges and being able to assist your attorney. There has been a finding by Western State Hospital...that Mr. Rohn is competent to stand trial. I do think there becomes a greater level to say that he would be in the best position to be able to represent himself.

> I am going to deny the motion for him to represent himself. I don't think he would meet the standard to be able to do that. I am doing that with an understanding that he has a right to do that, a constitutional right. I think given the nature of the mental health issues that are here, what he has told the Court about his

intentions...I am going to deny the motion for him to represent himself. (9/23/13 RP 9-11).

The following week, again before Judge Chushcoff, Mr. Rohn informed the court that he intended to use an insanity defense. The court noted it on the omnibus order. (10/2/13 RP 10;12). On October 28, 2013, Mr. Rohn filed a "declaration of expatriation" renouncing his American citizenship. (CP 63).

The prosecutor and defense counsel again raised concerns about Mr. Rohn's competency on November 6, 2013, before Judge Costello. Mr. Rohn had penned and sent a self-styled "encrypted" letter to the State's attorney two days previous to the hearing. (11/6/2013 RP 8). When the court questioned Mr. Rohn about the letter, he said that he was neither incompetent nor insane, but rather, an exceptionally intelligent psychopath, with "antisocial tendencies', "very gifted at deception" and "very gifted at malingering." (11/6/2013 RP 19).

He further reported that he had not participated in his competency evaluation because he did not want to be found incompetent or insane. He stated he believed he had manipulated the system to obtain a not guilty by reason of insanity judgment in 2005. He reiterated that he was capable of representing himself. (11/6/13 RP 19-22). The court determined that he remained competent to stand trial. (11/6/13 RP 28). The court did not

make further inquiry into the reference to self-representation or his statement that he was not mentally ill.

At the same hearing, the State objected to any mental health defense evidence being presented to the jury. (11/6/2013 RP 40). Defense counsel did not object, citing Mr. Rohn's earlier declaration that he did not believe himself to be mentally ill. (11/6/2013 RP 41). The court stated it was not making any conclusion as to whether Mr. Rohn was or was not mentally ill, and although he had been previously diagnosed with a mental illness, such information was irrelevant to the jury. (11/6/2013 RP 43).

The court made extensive inquiry into Mr. Rohn's proposed defense of self-defense. (11/6/13 RP 77, 78,120; 11/13/13 RP 121-123, 128-129, 133). The court did not give a self-defense instruction.

The matter proceeded to a jury trial after which he was convicted of first degree arson, two counts of first-degree malicious mischief, one count of felony harassment, one count of intimidating a public servant, and one count of theft in the third degree. (CP 197-210). He makes this timely appeal. (CP 249).

#### III. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Rohn His Constitutional Right To Represent Himself.

#### 1. Standard of Review

A request for pro se status is a waiver of a constitutional right to counsel, and denial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *In re Personal Restraint of Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d 654, 668, 260 P.3d 874 (2011). Discretion is abused if it is manifestly unreasonable, rests on facts unsupported by the record, or was reached by applying an incorrect legal standard. *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003).

2. Mr. Rohn Had A Constitutional Right To Represent Himself.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution grants a criminal defendant the right to represent himself at trial. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 816, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). Article 1, §22 of Washington State Constitution provides, in relevant part, "in criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and *defend in person, or by counsel…*" unequivocally guaranteeing an accused the constitutional right to represent himself. (Emphasis added). *State v. Kolocotronis*, 73 Wn.2d 92, 97, 436 P.2d 774 (1968); *State v. Silva*, 107 Wn.App. 605, 618, 27 P.3d 663 (2001).

While courts should engage in a presumption against the waiver of counsel, improper rejection of the right to self-representation requires reversal. *State v. Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d 496, 503-04, 229 P.3d 714 (2010). The grounds that allow a court to deny a defendant the right to self-

representation are limited to a finding that the defendant's request is equivocal, untimely, involuntary, or made without a general understanding of the consequences. The finding must be based on some identifiable fact. *Id.* at 504-05). The relevant question in deciding whether to grant a motion for self-representation is not the defendant's skill or ability, but rather, the validity of his waiver. *Godinez v. Moran*, 509 U.S. 389, 400, 113 S.Ct. 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993). To exercise a constitutional right to self-representation, the accused must knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily waive his right to counsel. *Johnson v. Zerbst*, 304 U.S. 458, 464-65, 58 S.Ct. 1019, 82 L.Ed. 1461 (1938); *City of Bellevue v. Acrey*, 103 Wn.2d 203, 208-09, 691 P.2d 957 (1984); *State v. Coley*, 326 P.3d 702, 711 (2014)(internal citations omitted).

The court must engage in a colloquy with the defendant to ensure his understanding of the nature of the charge against him, the potential maximum penalty, and the requirement that he comply with the legal procedures and evidence rules. *Acrey*, 103 Wn.2d at 211. In essence, the defendant must exercise the right to waive counsel with "eyes open" to the dangers and disadvantages of the decision. *State v. Hahn*, 106 Wn.2d 885, 726 P.2d 25 (1986).

Here, the court had already found Mr. Rohn competent to stand trial. The Washington Supreme Court has consistently held the competency standard for waiving the right to counsel is the same as the competency standard for standing trial. *Hahn*, 106 Wn.2d at 893; *In re Personal Restraint of Fleming*, 142 Wn.2d 853, 862, 16 P.3d 610 (2001).

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