NO. 45654-1 47394-1

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

TIMOTHY J. ROHN, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Jerry T. Costello

No. 13-1-02680-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JAMES SCHACHT Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 17298

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

B.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE.			
C.	ARGUMENT			
	1.	THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS RULINGS CONCERNING SELF REPRESENTATION4		
	2.	THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY PERMITTINGTHE APPELLANT'S GENERAL DENIAL DEFENSE		
	3.	REMAND IS REQUIRED FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO AMEND THE COMMUNITY CUSTODY TERM CONSISTENT WITH RCW 9.94A.701(2) and (3)11		
D.	CONC	CLUSION12		

Table of Authorities

State Cases

City of Bellevue v. Acrey, 103 Wn.2d 203, 691 P.2d 957 (1984)5
In re Rhome, 172 Wn.2d, 654, 260 P.3d 874(2011)4, 5
State v. Boyd, 174 Wn.2d 470, 473, 275 P.3d 321(2012)12
State v. Breedlove, 79 Wn. App.101, 110, 900 P.2d 586(1995)8
State v. Campbell, 103 Wn.2d 1, 14, 691 P.2d 929 (1984)6
State v. Chavis, 31 Wn. App. 784, 789, 644 P.2d 1202 (1982)
State v. Coley, 180 Wn.2d 543, 559, 326 P.3d 702(2014)
State v. Coristine, 177 Wn. 2d 370, 40-05, 300 P.3d 400 (2013)9
State v. Downing, 151 Wn.2d 265, 272, 87 P.3d 116 (2004)
State v. Franklin, Wn.2d 831, 836, 263 P.3d 585 (2011)12
State v. Hahn, 106 Wn.2d 885, 726 P.2d 25(1986)
State v. Higa, 38 Wn. App. 522, 524, 685 P.2d 1117(1984)
State v. Jones, 99 Wn.2d 735, 747, 664 P.2d 1216(1983)9
State v. Kolocotronis, 73 Wn.2d 92, 436 P.2d 774 (1968)
State v. Lawrence, 166 Wn. App. 378, 394, 271P.3d 280(2012)4
State v. Luvene, 127 Wn.2d 690, 698-99, 903 P.2d 960 (1995)6
State v. Madsen, 168 Wn.2d 496, 504, 229 P.3d 714(2010)
State v. McSorely, 128 Wn. App. 598, 116 P.3d 431(2005)9
State v. Vermillion, 112 Wn. App. 844, 851, 51 P.3d 188 (2002), review denied, 148 Wn.2d 1022 (2003)

State v. Woods, 143 Wn.2d 561, 587-88, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001)				
Federal and Other Jurisdictions				
Indiana v. Edwards, 554 U.S. 164, 128 S. Ct. 2379, 171 L. Ed. 2d 345(2008)				
Constitutional Provisions				
Article 1, § 22				
Sixth Amendment				
Statutes				
RCW 10.77.030(1)				
RCW 10.77.030(2)				
RCW 10.77.040 and 080				
RCW 9.94A.70111				
RCW 9.94A.701(1)11				
RCW 9.94A.701(2)11				
RCW 9.94A.701(3)11				
RCW 9.94A.728(1) and (2)				

A. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF</u> ERROR.

- 1. Did the trial court err by denying the defendant's motion for self representation where the defendant did not show that he had made a voluntary and knowing and intelligent decision?
- 2. Did the trial court err by permitting the defendant to defend himself with general denial when the defendant explicitly objected to an insanity defense?
- 3. Is remand for correction of the defendant's community custody term required?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On July 3, 2013, appellant Timothy J. Rohn ("defendant") was charged with felony harassment stemming from a July 2, 2013, incident on a treatment ward at Western State Hospital. CP 1-2. His first appearance was held on July 3, 2013. 1 RP 4-5¹. At the first appearance, the court deferred arraignment and ordered a competency evaluation at the request of the prosecution with the agreement of the defense. 1 RP 3-4. CP 6-10. On August 15, 2013, the court found the defendant competent, arraigned him, entered a competency order, and set the case for trial. CP 52 - 54.

¹ The verbatim record in this case consists of ten volumes. In this brief the volumes have been assigned a volume number in chronological order from 1-10. The references are to the particular volume and page number.

The trial court set an omnibus hearing for September 9, 2013. At the hearing the court heard defense counsel's motion for a continuance.

2 RP 5. The defendant objected to the continuance and requested leave to represent himself so that the continuance would not be granted. 2 RP 5-6.

The court granted the continuance and set over the defendant's request to represent himself. 2 RP 8. A self representation hearing was set for September 23, 2013. 2 RP 8.

The self representation hearing was heard on September 23, 2013.

3 RP 3. On that date the court engaged in a colloquy with the defendant and the attorneys. 3 RP 4-10. The trial court denied the motion. 3 RP 10
11. The defendant was represented at all further proceedings.

On November 13, 2013, defendant was charged with several additional offenses. The amended charges included a total of six counts: first degree arson, two counts of first degree malicious mischief, felony harassment, intimidating a public servant and third degree theft. CP 129-131. His case proceeded to trial.

The trial court heard pretrial motions on November 6, 2013.

During the pretrial motions, the defendant changed his mind about self representation. 5 RP 61. Although he was not entirely in agreement with his counsel's trial strategy, he explicitly requested that she represent him at trial. 5 RP 61, 63. He also explicitly objected to an insanity defense. He

advised the court that he was highly intelligent and that he had deceived Western State professionals and malingered in order to obtain an insanity plea on a prior felony. 5 RP 11, 17-19. He then stated that he was not insane and that "I feel that I don't belong in Western State Hospital because I don't deserve to be there." 5 RP 21.

At trial, the state presented testimony from a number inmates and staff from Western State Hospital and from law enforcement officers. The defense was general denial. 10 RP 40. The defendant did not make any motions to change his plea to insanity, nor did he request a hearing on an insanity motion. In closing argument, the defendant argued that there was insufficient proof of key elements of the crimes charged. 10 RP 41-42.

On November 22, 2013, the defendant was found guilty as charged. CP 168 - 173. He was sentenced on January 3, 2014, within the standard range to 61 months in prison. CP 197-210. The judgment and sentence form included a reference that community custody would be the longer of the period of earned early release or a specific number of months. CP 204-05. In an order correcting the judgment and sentence entered on August 1, 2014, the trial court changed the length of the term for count one from 12 to 18 months, but otherwise left intact the reference to earned early release. The defendant's notices of appeal were timely filed on January 23, 2013, and August 27, 2014. CP 249, 261.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

1. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ITS RULINGS CONCERNING SELF REPRESENTATION.

Criminal defendants have both a federal and state constitutional right to self representation at trial. Sixth Amendment. Article 1, § 22. *In re Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d, 654, 260 P.3d 874(2011), *citing*, *Indiana v*. *Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164, 128 S. Ct. 2379, 171 L. Ed. 2d 345(2008), and *State v. Kolocotronis*, 73 Wn.2d 92, 436 P.2d 774 (1968). Neither right is absolute. *In re Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d at 661-62.

Whether or not to permit a criminal defendant to represent himself is a matter entrusted to the discretion of the trial court. *State v. Hahn*, 106 Wn.2d 885, 726 P.2d 25(1986). Such decisions are to be made on a case by case basis taking into account "the particular facts and circumstances of the case, including the background, experience and conduct of the accused." *State v. Hahn*, 106 Wn.2d at 900. This court reviews such decisions for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Lawrence*, 166 Wn. App. 378, 394, 271P.3d 280(2012). Abuse of discretion means that the decision was "manifestly unreasonable, relies on unsupported facts, or applies an incorrect legal standard." *State v. Coley*, 180 Wn.2d 543, 559, 326 P.3d 702(2014)(internal quotation marks omitted).

In *Coley*, *supra*, the trial court ruled several times on a defendant's self representation requests. As in this case, the defendant in *Coley* changed his mind before ultimately deciding against conducting the trial *pro se*. The trial court ruled that Coley would continue to be represented by an attorney. As to that ruling, the Supreme Court stated that the trial court had not abused its discretion. Coley had "made no unequivocal requests after he was deemed competent to stand trial." *State v. Coley*, 180 Wn.2d at 560. The court also observed that "courts are required to indulge in 'every reasonable presumption against a defendant's waiver of his or her right to counsel.' " *Id.* at 560, *quoting*, *State v. Madsen*, 168 Wn.2d 496, 504, 229 P.3d 714(2010).

Where a defendant asks to represent himself, the request must be shown to have been unequivocal, knowing, voluntary, intelligent, and timely. *City of Bellevue v. Acrey*, 103 Wn.2d 203, 208–09, 691 P.2d 957 (1984), *State v. Vermillion*, 112 Wn. App. 844, 851, 51 P.3d 188 (2002), *review denied*, 148 Wn.2d 1022 (2003). In cases involving a defendant with a mental health history, it is permissible for a court to consider that history in its ruling on a motion for self representation. *In re Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d, 654, 665, 260 P.3d 874(2011). The court may also consider the context in which a self representation request is made, particularly where it is made in conjunction with a defendant's objection to a continuance

motion. *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 587-88, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001), *State v. Luvene*, 127 Wn.2d 690, 698-99, 903 P.2d 960 (1995). Considering the consequences of the decision to proceed *pro se*, an "accused should not be deemed to have waived the assistance of counsel until the entire process of offering counsel has been completed and a thorough inquiry into the accused's comprehension of the offer and capacity to make the choice intelligently and understandably has been made." *State v. Chavis*, 31 Wn. App. 784, 789, 644 P.2d 1202 (1982).

In this case, in an appearance before the criminal presiding judge, the defendant made his initial self representation request while simultaneously objecting to a short continuance. 2 RP 6. This is similar to the context in which self representation was raised in *Woods* and *Luvene*. The trial court reasonably granted a continuance of a little more than a month, but set a much quicker hearing date for the self representation motion. The decision to grant or deny a continuance motion is generally left to the trial court's discretion. *State v. Downing*, 151 Wn.2d 265, 272, 87 P.3d 116 (2004). Such decisions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion and will not be reversed "absent a showing of manifest abuse of discretion". *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 14, 691 P.2d 929 (1984). It can hardly be said that the court abused its discretion by granting the short continuance while at the same time setting a separate

self representation hearing. To have decided the self representation issue without due deliberation or a meaningful colloquy or an adequate record would have been an abuse of discretion.

The self representation hearing on September 23, 2013, included a meaningful colloquy. During the colloquy, the defendant advised the court that his education was limited to the equivalent of a high school diploma. 3 RP 5. He admitted that he was not then familiar with the rules of evidence. 3 RP 5. Regarding his knowledge of criminal procedure, he stated that he had come by what knowledge he had through having previously been in court as a criminal defendant. 3 RP 6. He stated that his trial strategy was to not challenge any of the state's evidence, and to only present a closing argument. 3 RP 7-8. Considering the deficits in the defendant's trial strategy and his ability to adequately represent himself, the trial court appropriately had "grave concerns about whether [the defendant] completely understands what it is that he is doing at this point in time asking to represent himself." 3 RP 10.

The trial court's caution was prudent and providential. The court did not rule that its decision could never be revisited. It based its decision on the record that had been made "at this point in time. . . . " 3 RP 10. In due course the issue of self representation was again brought before the court during preliminary matters before the trial. 5 RP 60. At that time,

the defendant unequivocally elected to be represented by his attorney. 5 RP 61, 62 - 63. Not surprisingly, his decision was respected and the defendant was ably represented by his lawyer for the remainder of the proceedings.

Had the defendant persisted in his request for self representation, his arguments might have more weight. Such was the case in *State v. Breedlove*, 79 Wn. App.101, 110, 900 P.2d 586(1995). In *Breedlove*, the defendant filed either two or three (the record on appeal was unclear) written motions for self representation and unequivocally made an oral request "that I be able to handle my own defense." *State v. Breedlove*, 79 Wn. App. at 105. Because there was no evidence of improper motive or of an impairment of the orderly administration of justice, the *Breedlove* court held that the denial of self representation was an abuse of discretion and not subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Breedlove*, 79 Wn. App. at 110.

By contrast to *Breedlove*, in this case the defendant went to trial with counsel after explicitly requesting that he be represented by counsel. There can hardly have been an abuse of discretion in this case when the trial court ruled in accordance with the defendant's stated preference. The trial court's rulings should be affirmed.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY PERMITTING THE APPELLANT'S GENERAL DENIAL DEFENSE.

Insanity is an affirmative defense that must be pleaded by a defendant at or within ten days of arraignment. RCW 10.77.030(1).

Insanity at the time of the offense may be pursued via a motion to the court or as a defense at trial. RCW 10.77.040 and 080. It must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. RCW 10.77.030(2).

In this case, the defendant objected forcefully to an insanity defense. 5 RP 21. A court may interpose an insanity defense over a defendant's objection in "only the rarest of cases". *State v. Jones*, 99 Wn.2d 735, 747, 664 P.2d 1216(1983)(court must be assured that a competent defendant is knowingly waiving an insanity defense). Insanity, like other affirmative defenses, is a decision reserved to the defendant "out of respect for a defendant's individual freedom". *Id.* at 743. Several cases have reversed a trial court for imposing an affirmative defense over a defendant's objection. *State v. Coristine*, 177 Wn. 2d 370, 40-05, 300 P.3d 400 (2013)(error to instruct on an affirmative defense to second degree rape over a defendant's objection). *State v. McSorely*, 128 Wn. App. 598, 116 P.3d 431(2005)(error to instruct on an affirmative defense to child luring over a defendant's objection).

During preliminary matters the defendant asserted and the trial court found that he is highly intelligent. 5RP 17. He admitted having falsely presented an insanity defense in the past by malingering and manipulating the Western State evaluators. 5 RP 19. He had been confined at Western State Hospital as a result and was unhappy with the conditions there. With that experience in mind his primary aim was to go to trial without a mental health defense. He had decided that his past malingering and manipulation had done him no good and that he was ready for a change. As he put it:

And I feel like I can't turn that around until I face up to what I do, which is get over and play the system. I need to sit down and seriously make amends for my behavior and work on my issues. And that's what I want. 5 RP 21.

Whether or not a defendant validly declines to pursue an insanity defense is a judgment left to the trial court's discretion. *State v. Higa*, 38 Wn. App. 522, 524, 685 P.2d 1117(1984). In this case, the trial court's exercise of discretion occurred after the defendant had spelled out what he hoped to accomplish at trial. The defendant did not want to be returned to Western State Hospital. He had experience with having been held there and did not wish his detention at the hospital to continue. He did not want to plead guilty. He did not want to give up any of his trial-related rights. He was willing to accept the judgment of the court and become a model prisoner.

It can hardly be said that the trial court abused its discretion by permitting the defendant to present the trial defense that he explicitly wanted. The defendant knew better than most the consequences of an insanity plea and the trial court was aware of his insight. That knowledge, coupled with the defendant's undisputed intelligence, is all that was required for the court to allow the defendant to assert a general denial defense. The court's respect for the defendant's election was admirable. There is no reason for defendant's conviction not to be affirmed.

3. REMAND IS REQUIRED FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO AMEND THE COMMUNITY CUSTODY TERM CONSISTENT WITH RCW 9.94A.701(2) and (3).

Until 2009, trial courts were required to impose a community custody range for violent offenses, or "up to the period of earned release awarded pursuant to RCW 9.94A.728(1) and (2), whichever is longer". RCW 9.94A.701(1). In 2009, this section was re-written so that trial courts now must sentence offenders to community custody for a straight up eighteen months for violent offenses such as first degree arson, or twelve months, for a crime against persons. RCW 9.94A.701(2) and (3).

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